

[®] University of Utah

UNDERGRADUATE RESEARCH JOURNAL

IMPROVING THE CULTURE OF DEATH DENIAL ACROSS THE UNITED STATES

Christopher Blake Hales (Joseph R. Horton, Thesis Mentor)
Department of Operations and Information Systems

IMPROVING THE CULTURE OF DEATH DENIAL ACROSS THE UNITED STATES

by

Christopher Hales

A Senior Honors Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of The University of Utah In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Honors Degree in Bachelor of Science

In

Business Administration

Approved:

Joseph Richards Horton

Thesis Faculty Supervisor

Glen M. Schmidt

Chair, Department of Operations and

Information Systems

Jessica Taverna Honors Faculty Advisor Sylvia D. Torti, PhD Dean, Honors College

April 2021 Copyright © 2021 All Rights Reserved

Abstract

The culture of death denial in the United States has been a problem for many years, resulting in significant consequences for individuals, families, and society. Death is inevitable, yet society lacks the preparation needed to deal with death when it comes. The societal default has been to fight death and its reality. In fighting death, vast amounts of medical spending occur at the end-of-life, some of which is considered "medical waste". Research was performed focused on discovering whether a change in our current culture of death denial is key to the minimization of medical waste at the end-of-life in the United States. During the end-of-life, in an attempt to improve the quality of life, care, and the humanity of patients; methods have been developed that can significantly transform the healthcare system of the United States. Improving the culture of death denial is essential if the people of the United States hope for an improved death experience with honor, dignity and ultimately save costs and utilize resources where they matter most.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
Improving the Culture of Death Denial Across the United States	1
Culture of Death Denial	2
History of Old Age in the United States	2
Rise of Individual Independence	6
Societal Consequences	10
Death Denial	11
Institutional Existence	12
The End Result	13
Medical Waste at End-of-Life	14
Costs and Spending	15
Nursing Homes	17
Hospitals	18
Is Prolonging Death Humane?	21
Doctor-Patient Relationship	22
Palliative and Hospice Care	26
Hope for the Future	32
Change the Culture	32
Save Money and Reallocate	34
Improve End-of-Life Experience for All	35
References	41

Improving the Culture of Death Denial Across the United States

For humans, life is a finite experience. As a biological function, the time will come for every individual human being alive, to die. Yet despite the daunting thoughts that arise regarding death or what comes after, it is an inescapable reality. Thus, the subject of death in the United States has become uncomfortable to think or speak about and as a result, receives rare acknowledgement and few discussions. With the integration of personal knowledge, beliefs, and experiences, the actual meaning and significance of old age and death varies widely among individuals. All of these factors contribute to what is now the current societal culture of death denial.

Commonly known as "death denial", death denial in the United States can be considered as a sum total of ways to prolong life. Or rather an emotional, intellectual, and physical manifestation to our basic human survival mechanisms. As an aggregate, these responses built by human behavior and beliefs have created a culture that has propagated across generations. Though death is certain, its reality has often been avoided or not accepted. Therefore, many at the end-of-life have lost the significant opportunity to prepare for the final phase of human life. Current behaviors and beliefs have put tremendous focus on ensuring health and survival. Also, the capabilities of modern medicine have aided in reducing physical decay and minimizing the possibility of death. Individuals then, at the end-of-life repeatedly go through medical procedures and interventions seeking personal medical benefit. Whether that benefit be a greater quality of life or a cure for an illness and disability, sometimes these medical procedures and interventions do not provide the significant benefit that patients seek, leaving them worse off than before. Consequently, medical costs at the end-of-life are staggering, leading to

what is considered "medical waste". In this context, "medical waste" denotes medical spending for services and goods that are unnecessarily spent and provide minimal or no health benefit. Medical waste in the United States has increased considerably over the years and more importantly, has costed many people meaningful final years of life and ultimately a good death. To minimize medical waste at the end-of-life, the societal perspective and culture of death denial must change. A change in the culture of death denial will improve the end-of-life experience for all, while reducing costs, saving resources, and allocating those resources to better means.

Culture of Death Denial

To begin implementing an effective change to the American culture of death denial, it is critical to understand the specific elements establishing the current culture of death denial and the effects thereof. These specific elements are the history of old age in the United States, the rise of individual independence, and the societal consequences derived from society's extreme focus on maintaining individual independence till the end-of-life.

History of Old Age in the United States

Early recollections of how old age and death were perceived in the United States has altered within the last few centuries. Therefore, it is significant to recognize the history and change in perspectives of old age in the United States. The transformation of the perspectives of old age are a result of the variation in the family dynamic, the societal significance of old age, and the increase of life expectancy.

Life expectancy has gradually improved over the course of human history, especially in the last few centuries. Then it is no surprise that, "Before the twentieth

century, life expectancy was short but generations were long" (Ruggles, 2003, p. 145). At the time, it was quite uncommon for parents to reach old age and still have their children living with them. However, when a parent did live to reach old age, often times one or more of their children would remain to live with them. Although these situations were infrequent, circumstances such as these would necessitate what would be considered as a multi-generational family dynamic. In most cases, this system was created out of necessity because the parent(s) were too weak to perform the work and take care of themselves. Typically, the child that remained would aid the parent by contributing effort, time, and work. As repayment for the effort, time, and work given, the child could expect to inherit the parent's money, land, or business. Ruggles (2003) stated that, "This multigenerational phase nevertheless played an essential role in the functioning of the pre-industrial family economy. It ensured continuity of the labour supply on farms and for other traditional livelihoods and provided economic security in old age" (p. 149). Meanwhile, in the 19th century, the multigenerational family dynamic began to decline, allowing the nuclear family dynamic to replace the multigenerational family in the early 20th century. Unlike the multigenerational family, the nuclear family dynamic was different. In this regard, Kertzer (1995, as cited in Ruggles, 2003) describes that the nuclear family emerged as children left the house to marry and when large numbers of older, elderly parents would move into the house of one of their children (p. 150). The nuclear family dynamic benefited many because if the parent(s) could not afford a place of their own, a child who was more financially stable and had extra space, could provide the parent(s) a place to live. Gawande (2017) expressed that the system of the multigenerational family and the nuclear family, "...shared the advantage of easily resolving

the question of care for the elderly" (p. 17). Nevertheless, the creation and arrangement of the multigenerational and nuclear family allowed for a system of care that was accepted and functional during the mid-19th and early 20th century.

Currently, in the 21st century, many of the old and elderly are not treated the same. In the United States, a significant portion of the older population live alone either at home, on a hospital bed, or secluded in medical institutions. This shift in lifestyle can be attributed to the way old age was viewed and understood in the United States during the 20th century. More specifically, through the different popular press perceptions toward the significance of old age. Hirshbein (2001) indicates that in the early half of the 20th century, there were three overlapping phases in the ideas about old age represented in the popular press and mass media.

The first phase of ideas occurred from 1900 to 1920. The popular press during these two decades was primarily focused on the experiences and memories of the individuals approaching or already at old age. Many of these popular press sources were the general public and society's source of information regarding old age. At the time, there had been no societal standard as to what age constituted "old age" and no designated list of characteristics that qualified as "old age". Old age was viewed positively and "...there were no negative features necessarily associated with old age" (Hirshbein, 2001, p. 1556). In addition, the popular press instilled a broader cultural significance for those who were of old age. Rather than solely focusing on the experiences and memories of older people, the popular press also provided the opportunity for older people to represent history and the past. As Hirshbein (2001) states, "Whether or not these images of older people corresponded to real culture or events from

the 19th century, they seemed to embody the memories that people in the 20th century wanted to have about the past" (p. 1557). It wasn't until 1920 when the societal idea of old age began to change.

The second phase of ideas represented in the popular press received a significant transformation from the first phase. From 1920 to 1930, information and resources on how to prolong youth and staying healthy were receiving greater emphasis. Depictions of feebleness, frailty, and infirmity among the old became commonplace. Soon, the societal idea of old age providing an opportunity to remember the past changed. "As Americans became aware of their nation's position as a new national power in the 1920s, many encouraged a look to the future rather than the past" (Hirshbein, 2001, p. 1557). It wasn't until the 1930s and 40s when the American society began to group the older population and separate the idea of remembering the past from the memories of old age. Then between 1930 to the 1950s, the popular press went through its third phase of ideas regarding old age.

Before 1930, many of the older population did not retire once reaching old age. Almost all stayed working until the financial funds to successfully retire were obtained. In the early years of this time frame, the Great Depression pushed for dire economic decisions. As a result, retirement for those of old age became more desirable among the American society. Many at this time viewed that retirement of older individuals would enable economic opportunity for those who were younger. However, Hirshbein (2001) revealed that, "During this time, the increasing numbers of older people came to be seen as adding a burden to American society" (p. 1558). This "burden" that old age presented was due to the ever-increasing opportunity for the older population to reach retirement

age. Longer life expectancy enabled adults to reach the age of 65, therefore having more individualism, independence, and self-reliance. But with a greater population of older individuals, the indications of old age such as weakness, pain, and death became much more public. That's when society began to question the value and significance of old age. Over the next two decades, old age in the United States became widely regarded as a medical problem needing a solution. In regard to how this was expressed in the popular press, Hirshbein (2001) specifies that, "...Old age within popular literature had become a topic for medical and other professional intervention, rather than a way to explain people's lives or their position in the national order" (p. 1555). By the beginning of the 21st century, old age had become depicted as unwanted, undesirable, and less valuable.

Rise of Individual Independence

Coupled with these events, as family dynamics and societal perceptions of old age changed, so did economic and financial resources. Economic and financial resources such as Social Security, Medicare, and Medicaid, enabled a rise in income, pensions, and retirement. By means of these resources, the idea for individual independence and the pursuit of it, emanated for both young and old.

The search for individual independence in the United States came as a result of the ever-changing social spheres. As observed, the culture and social meanings of old age, growing old, and dying changed. Fleming et al. (2003), revealed that "This history has been shaped largely by the search for economic security" (p. 914). One aspect of this search for economic security was through the means of retirement. Back in 1790, many states began to make it mandatory for individuals in public office to retire at the age of 60 (Fleming et. al, 2003). Especially with increased life expectancy, numerous adults were

able to maintain their connection to the work force well into their older years. Lee (2014) added that, "Rising US life expectancy has added years of life not only in old age but also in the current working ages of 20 to 65" (p. 234). Not only has the proportion of workers increased, but so has the actual population of older Americans. "Nonetheless, the proportion age 65 and over in the United States rose from 8 percent in 1950 to 13 percent in 2010 and is expected to rise above 20 percent by 2030 as the baby boom moves into old age" (Lee, 2014, p. 234). This is significant because more and more is the older population growing, playing an immense effect on how older individuals will choose to live their lives. Additionally, McFall et al. (2015, as cited in, Dong et al., 2017) stated:

Ideally, those who are near or at retirement age who want to keep working and are able to do so, would have opportunities to work. Those in poor health, or with stressful or physically demanding jobs, would be able to retire or have the option to transition gradually to retirement through part-time or bridge work. (p. 325)

Rather than working till death or total disability, adults started to gain the opportunity to choose either to work well past retirement age or to retire and spend the remaining years of life doing whatever they wanted. Others, unfortunately faced disability and illness either from old age or from the physical jobs they spent decades performing, forcing them to retire. Regardless, the concept of retirement drastically changed the economic environment for the old and helped demonstration that it was possible to have an enjoyable old age experience. The difficulty for some however, was obtaining and living off of the necessary means during that period of retirement.

To accomplish those means, pensions became the second aspect of this search for economic security. Pensions began in the late 19th century but at that time, the pension

system was unlike what it is today. Having been historically created for military purposes, "...the military pension was transformed into a rudimentary old-age system of social insurance for the working class" (Fleming et al., 2003, p. 916). After this change, the implementation of pensions both in the private and public sector became more common. Typically, working adults would expect to work till a certain age, retire, and acquire financial support dependent upon these pensions. Pensions as well began to influence how long individuals would work and when they would retire, transforming society's behavior. By the 20th century, retirement became a more viable option for many older Americans.

Besides pensions, the creation and implementation of the United States Social Security Act of 1935 is by far most important and influential aspect of this search for economic security. It wasn't until 1933 during the Great Depression, that it became clear that there was a need for a more supportive system to keep the elderly and retired out of poverty. Before 1935, pensions were the means that helped cushion the transition out of the workforce for the older American population. Now, the American population became fully dependent upon benefits from Social Security. The Social Security legislation helped improve and provide relief to the lives of many Americans and sought to offer safety for future downturns. In 1965, the Social Security Act was amended to implement the public programs of Medicare and Medicaid. This new amendment allowed for financial coverage for older and low-income individuals in regard to medical and health expenses. Fleming et al. (2003) explained that, "The combination of income assistance in the form of Social Security and health insurance through Medicare made retirement increasingly attractive and, for the first time, financially feasible for most elderly people"

(p. 917). Finally, numerous adults and elderly in the United States had the means to live through their final stage of life. Even today, Social Security still continues to provides pensions, securities, and benefits to the elderly, disabled, unemployed and their dependents. The elderly experienced and witnessed "...first-hand the demise of elder pauperism, the poorhouse, and the rise of pensions and retirement (Fleming et al., 2003, p. 918). Retirement ultimately became a period of higher wealth and greater ability of leisure.

At this point, the search for individual independence had finally been found for many adults and older individuals. In comparison, from the beginning of the 20th century to the beginning of the 21st century, "The economic wellbeing of the elderly has improved dramatically since World War II" (Arno et al., 2011, p. 236). This newly improved economic wellbeing allowed for a greater sense of financial freedom and control well into old age. Parents were the ones that provided economic security and when the time came, passed down their financial resources to their children and families. But as life expectancy increased, parents began to live longer and maintain control of their personal livelihood, without help or support. This continual control increased financial tension between children and parents, resulting in children leaving the house earlier in life, as seen in the nuclear family dynamic. Surprisingly, parents were content and became used to living alone through old age. With their children moving out earlier, parents weren't necessarily unhappy to see their children go. Parents now had the ability to choose how they wanted to live their lives. Many of which chose to continue living autonomously.

Putting this into perspective, in the United States "There are over 12 million Americans aged 65 and older who live alone—about a trifold increase compared to the mid-20th century (Klinenberg, 2013; Stepler, 2016, as cited in Mudrazija, 2020). With welfare programs and social supports currently present in the United States, living alone has become much more feasible, making it a common choice among older adults. Fleming et al. (2003) observed that:

The desire to live independently as long as possible has gained increasing importance since the 18th century. Rather than representing a weakening of family bonds or kin responsibility, the gradual decline of the extended-family dwelling was welcomed across generations. The rise of the middle class made this long-desired goal a reality for more and more of the elderly population. (p. 920)

More than ever, the 21st century has become a unique time for the elderly to live. Though the preference to preserve individual independence and autonomy has enabled many to live a life they choose, there are resulting consequences.

Societal Consequences

For two centuries, society focused on how to maintain one's independence. Yet, during the 18th to 20th centuries, society lost precious time focusing on a more central and vital idea, such as the subject of death. All the while, the population of independent elderly continued to grow and the symptoms of old age and death became a closer reality for all. Thus, several societal consequences began to develop, two of which society currently faces. These consequences are the formation of the culture of death denial and an institutional existence designed to medically answer many of the unfixable problems encountered in old age.

Death Denial

Unsurprisingly, the topic of death can be a sensitive and frightful topic to internalize. Not many individuals want to ponder on the ultimate moment of their finite life, much less the stage in which it comes. There are times where patients or even family members never accept the outcome of death, especially if nothing more can be done for the patient. Zimmerman (2007) said, "Our society is death-denying, so it is not unexpected that patients and families are reluctant to acknowledge the finality of a terminal diagnosis" (p. 301). The idea of death is disconcerting; no one likes to be told they are dying. As a response, thoughts of death and its reality are repressed to hide the unpleasant truth. Expounding on this, Scott (1994, as cited in Zimmermann, 2007) stated:

This fear and denial within our society has led us to ignore or minimize the huge and rapidly growing burden of suffering imposed by terminal illness. Our fear of death has dictated our society's massive expenditure on high-technology resources in the last months of life in frantic, futile attempts to prolong life. (p. 305)

Over time, this fear and denial have led to the ignorance and minimization of the approaching reality of death. In the past, the societal focus was primarily on managing the everyday aspect of life; however, death denial began to negatively impact choices regarding care, causing greater detriment to quality of life for many. According to Zimmermann (2007):

Denial was perceived to be standing in the way of several components of palliative care: (1) open discussion of dying, (2) dying at home, (3) advance care

planning, (4) symptom management and (5) stopping 'futile' treatments. These components of care form what may be considered a proper 'way to die'". (p. 299) Especially with increased life expectancy, people in the United States have had a greater chance of living a longer life. Unfortunately, many have failed to realize that independence will ultimately be lost, one way or another. All this time, rather than questioning what is needed to preserve and manage life for a long time, society should have asked the question, "If independence is what we live for, what do we do when it can no longer be sustained?" (Gawande, 2017, p. 23). Previous contemplation and attention of this question have occurred but not in the way or means necessary, leaving this question unanswered. One solution aimed to address this question resulted in the conception of medical institutions, such as nursing homes and hospitals.

Institutional Existence

Early in the United States, many of those who were dependent had the help of family. For those who did not have family, they found themselves in what was called a "poorhouse". These poorhouses gave dependent individuals shelter, sustenance, but care was poor and basic needs were not met. As technology and infrastructure grew, hospitals were substituted for poorhouses and presented places of healing and health. "Focus shifted to medical and scientific advances and to big business, leading to a devaluation of the elderly population, whose remaining years were now bounded by dependency, decay, and dementia" (Fleming et al., 2013, p. 915). New ways were discovered to improve or remove the problems that life brought, making the prolongation of life possible. It was not long till the capabilities of modern medicine changed the way the United States practiced medicine. As Gawande (2017) observed, "...the advances of modern medicine

have given us two revolutions: we've undergone a biological transformation of the course of our lives and also a cultural transformation of how we think about that course" (p. 29). This was especially true for the elderly and those at end-of-life. Elderly individuals with sickness, symptoms of aging, and chronic illness who had access to a hospital, flocked to them thinking that these conditions could be cured or fixed. Hospitals started to fill up and beds became occupied with patients requiring constant care, leaving not enough room for those desperately needing attention or immediate care. Soon, hospitals couldn't meet the needs or demands required by both the young and old. That's when, society began to regard old age as a problematic medical situation requiring a solution. As Fleming et al. (2013) said:

With the Passage of Medicare and Medicaid legislation resulted in the rapid development of commercial nursing homes, accelerating the trend away from nonprofit and government facilities. Congress had intended the nursing home benefit as a mechanism to shorten hospital stays, thereby hoping to reduce costs. (p. 918)

Rather than utilizing the vast amounts of resources and time demanded from medical providers, nursing homes were the solution used to relocate the dependent individuals who occupied hospital beds. Nursing homes, just like hospitals years before, became another new place for a majority of the elderly, dependent, and sick.

The End Result

With the help of legislation and technology, nursing homes began to evolve into a place that would allow for elderly, dependent, and sick patients to receive expert care in a low-risk environment. Besides the special situations where an individual would be

admitted into a nursing home out of necessity, families began to send their loved ones and elderly to these nursing homes for the sake of "safety". Individual independence was still an expectation for families and their loved ones but as it turns out, individual independence and safety are mutually exclusive desires. For many, once independence was lost, a life of freedom and worth was unattainable. Gawande (2017) mentioned:

We end up with institutions that address any number of societal goals—from feeing up hospital beds to taking burdens off families' hands to coping with poverty among the elderly—but never the goal that matters to the people who reside in them: how to make life worth living when we're weak and frail and can't fend for ourselves anymore. (p. 77)

Not only were the elderly left in a controlled and supervised institutional existence, but for those at the end-of-life, the ability to control their quality of life diminished. In a sense, the culture of death denial led to an aggregate effect that significantly decreased the quality of life and death among many. Thus, as a consequence for a society that tries not to think about the final phase of life and not prepare for it, the medical costs at the end-of-life have increased, and ultimately leading to medical waste.

Medical Waste at End-of-Life

The healthcare industry in the United States is one of the most sophisticated, advanced, and finest healthcare systems in the world. Yet, the United States generally also has the highest mortality rate, lower life spans, lower recovery rates, a higher disease burden, the least access, the greatest cost, and the most health spending (as a % of GDP or "Gross Domestic Product") as compared to other countries. Of the total healthcare spending in the United States, a significant portion is the end-of-life healthcare spending,

whether it be privately or publicly funded. In the United States, the central public financier for healthcare among the elderly and chronically ill is Medicare. Recently, various articles and research have observed that end-of-life costs are a large proportion of Medicare spending. Two of the main institutions for the elderly and chronically ill, hospitals and nursing homes, receive Medicare reimbursements for the beneficiaries within. But with the existence of a culture of death denial, elderly and sick individuals opt for medical interventions and procedures that seek to cure or reduce the possibility of death, which are then generally paid for by Medicare or private insurance. Oftentimes, these interventions and procedures do not always succeed or provide significant benefit to the patient and their family. Currently, society's perception is that higher spending equals greater results. Unfortunately, this is not always the case. Especially in regard to medical procedures and outcomes, higher spending can frequently result in worse outcomes. Because of these perspectives and choices, this has led to a widespread amount of medical waste.

Although the attention of rising costs and medical waste is necessary, the greater concern and primary focus should be that medical waste is costing people their lives, quality of care, and death experience. This excess of spending not only affects those at end-of-life but other stakeholders such as families, the current population, medical providers, insurances, and future generations. Therefore, it is essential to address the medical costs commonly found at the end-of-life in both nursing homes and hospitals. Then when addressing the effect on the quality of life, we must ask the question, "Is prolonging life humane?".

Costs and Spending

Before analyzing the actual cost and spending of healthcare for the elderly, it is beneficial to recognize how the United States healthcare system functions and the influential players within it. Primarily, the United States healthcare system is not a universally accessible system like the United Kingdom, Switzerland, or other countries are. Rather it is a mix of both private and public programs and organizations. Of the two, the private sector is the main source of health insurance coverage for many Americans. Private health insurance has had continuous growth since the early 20th century. The Congressional Research Service (2021) measured that private health insurance accounted for \$1,195 billion (33% of total health consumption expenditures) in 2019. To obtain private health insurance in the United States, the common method is either through employer-sponsored plans (group market) or individually purchased insurance plans (non-group market). However, for those who have employer-sponsored plans, once that individual reached retirement age, they lost their ability to retain their employersponsored plans. For many of those 65 and older, there needed to be some system or program to cover the health costs and spending. Thus, the use of Medicare and Medicaid. The Congressional Research Service (2021) found that as of 2019, not only were 58 million individuals enrolled in Medicare, but the total spending measured \$799 billion (22% of total health consumption expenditures). At the same time, there were 64 million individuals who received Medicaid in 2019 (17.6% of total health consumption expenditures). Combined, Medicare and Medicaid comprised 39% of total health consumption expenditures, 6% more than that of private health insurance.

With Medicare and Medicaid covering health care expenditures for many of Americans 65 and over, large portions of spending are for care given at end-of-life. Endof-life care, as defined by the National Cancer Institute, is care that includes physical, emotional, social, and spiritual support given to both patients and/or their families. End-of-life is generally defined as a period ranging from the last two years or 6 months of life. In the United States, nursing homes have become one of the primary healthcare settings for those at the end-of-life. This is important because nursing homes are an institution that have an effect on the medical spending and care observed at the end-of-life.

Nursing Homes

Before death, nursing homes are the first stop for many of the elderly. After retirement and the loss of independence, many are brought to some kind of institutional setting for care, either of their own volition or by their family. The term "Nursing homes" is an umbrella term for institutional settings of care such as independent living, assisted living and skilled nursing. Regardless, the services and care provided by the nursing homes are not inexpensive. De Nardi et al. (2016) observed that in 2014, a typical nursing home stay estimated \$77,000-88,000 a year (p. 722). If the role of gender were to affect the actual cost of nursing homes for an individual, De Nardi et al. (2016) stated that, "...women spend nearly twice as much on nursing home care as men" (p. 730). As age increases so does the private and public medical spending for those in nursing homes. In that regard, De Nardi et al. (2016) found that "In 2013, 29[%] of nursing home costs were paid out-of-pocket, while around 30[%] were covered by Medicaid" (p. 722). Within a few years, it is typical for a majority of those living in nursing homes to deplete all of their personal financial funds in order to pay for necessary care. requiring Medicare and Medicaid then would reimburse the nursing home on the patient's behalf for the care performed. With nursing home stays and care demanding high such costs, it is no surprise

that increased expenditures were the result. Overall, this contributed to a higher increase in the total Medicare and Medicaid spending.

When measuring and reporting the statistical data associated with Medicare and Medicaid spending, The Dartmouth Atlas Project created by The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care can be a key resource. The Dartmouth Atlas Project intends to measure and document the variations of how medical resources are distributed and used in the United States. Use of this data can provide insightful information and analysis about national, regional, and local medical spending. Of the various data sets that are measured, one includes the Medicare reimbursements for Skilled Nursing Facilities (SNF) and Long-Term Care. The Dartmouth Atlas Project (2017a) indicates that Medicare reimbursements in 2017 ranged from a minimum of \$1,062 to a maximum of \$66,194. These reimbursements included payments to the facility or agency, and to physicians for services performed. From these results, it appears the Medicare spending within the last two years of life has maintained similarity to previous years. But within the last year and months leading up to death, both the medical expenditures and healthcare setting change.

Hospitals

Like nursing homes, hospitals are one of the many institutions in which end-of-life care is provided. Since hospitals account for a large part of total Medicare reimbursements for end-of-life care it can be perceived that many Americans find themselves in a hospital rather than a nursing home at the end-of-life. Consequently, hospital use has increased dramatically, especially for those in the last year to months of life. Hospitals in the United States experience one of the highest medical spending costs

for those in the last year of life, confirming the exponential increase in costs as death approaches.

A primary cause for the high medical spending in hospitals is the underlying culture of death denial existing in the hospital setting. This uncomfortable relationship with death contributes to many Americans wanting to utilize immense hospital resources and high-tech interventions. Gawande (2015) mentioned, "In just a single year, the researchers reported, [25% to 42%] of Medicare patients received at least one of the twenty-six useless tests and treatments" (p. 2). The most common consequences that patients experience are repeated hospitalizations, poor care, unnecessary tests, painful interventions, and a death inconsistent with the patient's wishes. Hence, "Dying in a hospital has been associated with high rates of unwanted aggressive treatment, underuse or late use of palliative care and poorer symptom management" (Waller et al., 2017, p. 1).

Today, much of the United States healthcare system still continues to concentrate medical spending at the end-of-life on patients who are terminally ill, sick, and over diagnosed. "In 2010, the Institute of Medicine issued a report stating that [medical] waste accounted for [30%] of health-care spending, or some [\$750] billion dollars a year, which was more than our nation's entire budget for K-12 education" (Gawande, 2015, p. 2). Researchers, medical providers, and policymakers consider unnecessary end-of-life care to be a major source of medical waste. More recently, Einav et al. (2018) expressed that "…one-quarter of Medicare spending in the United States occurs in the last year of life is commonly interpreted as waste" (p. 1). Statistical data showcasing this can be observed through "Hospital Care Intensity". Created by the Dartmouth Atlas Project (2017b), Hospital Care Intensity demonstrates the intensity of care either by state, region, or

hospital and is defined as, "...the number of days patients spent in the hospital and the number of physician encounters (visits) they experienced as inpatients". Throughout the United States different states had varying percentages of hospital intensity and showed fascinating results. The states that were the least intensive or aggressive in their hospital care were Utah, Idaho and Montana. The states with most intensive and aggressive hospital care were New Jersey, New York, and Florida. These results however, do not necessarily correlate with high medical spending.

Besides Hospital Care Intensity, the Dartmouth Atlas Project (2017a) also measured and recorded the total Medicare reimbursement across all states in the United States. The average reimbursement amounted to \$68,844 with a range between \$53,439 to \$92,870. When comparing the total reimbursement data by hospitals, the low was \$52,840 to an astounding high of \$237,500. When narrowing the parameters for inpatient hospital Medicare reimbursement, the data showed a similar pattern. The average Medicare reimbursement cost for inpatient care was \$30,353 with a low of \$21,051 and a high of \$46,087. Since 2003, inpatient spending for the last six months of life has gradually increased. Data has shown, especially in earlier decades, that high-cost and high-use regions tend to stay the same over time, suggesting that spending patterns in these regions play an important role in overall Medicare spending. Gawande (2009) illustrated that a variation in physicians' chosen practice patterns can create a difference in Medicare costs. In addition, "Health care expenditures are affected by Medicare reimbursement rules, which pay providers differently based on their geographic location" (Chicklis et al., 2015, p. 1576). More importantly, when looking towards the future, "The Dartmouth Atlas investigators estimate that the United States could save 40[%] of the

resources spent on chronic illness if all regions adopted the practice patterns of high-quality, low-cost regions" (Chicklis et al., 2015, p. 1585). In the end, it is critical that the United States understands not only the statistical data and research but the overall significance these findings provide. The data and research show that the majority of medical spending is at the end-of-life. Yet, even despite these numbers, it is not enough to identify and focus solely on crude data and averages. The culture of death denial has a tremendous effect on the medical spending seen in hospital settings and the care performed. Unfortunately, denial has left many individuals waiting until death to begin preparing for the death they want, which has become not only costly but unrealistic.

Is Prolonging Death Humane?

The effect of the culture of death denial goes beyond just the medical costs in the United States. The immense end-of-life medical expenditures and rising medical costs are only one of many problems faced by those at the end-of-life. The other more significant problem is the quality of care and life for patients. For many patients and their families, a prolonged and painful death can be an overwhelming and terrifying thought. The general behavior and belief have been that in order to extend life, one must receive numerous medical interventions. This leads to a greater societal cost and a depletion of resources from the healthcare system. Rather, the behavior and belief should change to understand that often times, not everything technologically possible should be done. Although efforts have been made to make this change possible, outcomes show that futile attempts are still being made. Thus, the question is begged to be asked, "Is prolonging life humane"?

Ethically, this question provokes a serious and necessary examination of our societal behavior and mindset. When at the end-of-life, is the goal to prolong life or

hasten death? How about neither? Rather, shouldn't the goal be to have a meaningful life worth living till the very end? Possibly, the greatest honor that can be given is to enable and give an individual at the end-of-life the right to choose and shape their death in the most humane and dignified way. However, the ever-existent culture of death denial permits the notion that death is defeat, but this is not true. If unnecessary medical interventions for people who cannot be cured are stopped, these individuals can have a peaceful, comfortable, dignified, and humane death. To provide greater dignity and make death more humane, society can begin to implement greater end-of-life discussions through stronger doctor-patient relationships and earlier use of palliative services and hospice care.

Doctor-Patient Relationship

The doctor-patient relationship plays a significant role in the delivery of any services or health care for patients in need. Since the death experience for every individual is unique, the doctor-patient relationship is especially important as this relationship affects the care provided and ultimately, the death experience of the patient. Given the uniqueness of these situations, death happens in numerous settings and timelines. Oftentimes there are those who die suddenly and those who die after a prolonged period. Thus, the process by which end-of-life discussions occur are also unique. Glogowska et al. (2016) said in this regard:

The first of these [discussions] was how death and dying are brought to the attention of patients and their families. Secondly, professionals discussed the issue of recogni[z]ing when patients might be at their [end-of-life]. Thirdly, the professionals' attention was focused on the frequent hospital admissions of

patients at the end of their lives, and their experience of working with services which might provide alternatives to admission (p. 3).

The role of the patient is created starting from the moment when an individual resorts to the advice and knowledge of a doctor for certain circumstances; however, the quality of this service ultimately rests upon the form of relationship created between the doctor and patient. Other possible stakeholders in the doctor-patient relationship are medical providers such as nurses, aids, and healthcare administrators. Unfortunately, medical providers have a difficult time engaging in these conversations. To showcase how often end-of-life discussions occur, Keary and Moorman (2015) observed that, "These conversations were quite rare, with less than 1% of our large sample reporting them" (p. 996). It is vital that stakeholders become more active and engaged in leading end-of-life discussions to comfort the patient and make their preferences, wishes, and values known. One method to encourage this change may be to ponder again and introduce Medicare reimbursements to physicians who engage in end-of-life discussions with their patients.

Apart from the passing of the Medicare and Medicaid legislation as part of the Social Securities act, potentially beneficial legislation that could have changed end-of-life care revolved around the 2010 Affordable Care Act. At the time, several politicians aimed to create a legislative bill that would allow and extend Medicare reimbursements every five years for physicians. The intent was to implement a method to provide greater cost savings for end-of-life care. Essentially, if the physicians participated in end-of-life care planning with the patient, they would receive Medicare reimbursements. However, the decision was made to remove this bill and provision from the Affordable Care Act.

It is necessary for the patient and their family, to have a clear understanding of end-of-life and death. This is important because, "...few patients will have discussed the place of death or wishes for end-of-life care in advance" (Glogowska et al, 2016, p. 8). Yet, patients and even doctors find it difficult to talk about the serious nature of death and the pain and disability that precede it. The Hartford Foundation (2016, as cited in Gerard 2017) indicated that "Most physicians say they have not received formal training on how to have end-of-life conversations" (p. 38). Thus, it is imperative that both the patient and their family work alongside medical providers to enable the patient a peaceful, comfortable, dignified, and humane death.

For doctors to continue this goal of providing a dying patient the best possible care and a comfortable and honorable death, the subject of death must be addressed in a timely fashion. It is no secret that America has had an uneasy, uncomfortable, and unwilling perception of death. Elizabeth's Kubler-Ross's book *On Death and Dying* demonstrated this exact notion in the late 20th century. As a result of her book, there has been positive change in policy and attitude about death and dying but it alone has not been enough (Guseva, 2019). That is why, certain skills must be learned and acted upon to create better patient engagement regarding the subject of death, especially when involving heightened emotions. Branch (2014) points out that one of the most, if not most, important skill with handling emotions is expressing empathy. Getting the right emotion at the right time in order to express genuine care is essential for connecting to the patient (p. 69). A lot of emphasis is focused on harnessing the power of medicine, but medicine has its limitations and capabilities. When medicine falls short, empathy is there to draw upon. When our bodies are weak and frail, we as humans still need reassurance,

hope and love. Empathy provides the chance for doctors and care providers to draw on personal experiences and to better engage with the patient. By focusing on the human element of medicine and harnessing empathy, patients can experience better outcomes.

But as Walczak et al., (2014) stated, "Doctors' avoidance of life-expectancy discussions is common, often for fear of destroying hope or the therapeutic relationship" (p. 2). In 2014, in an effort to make end-of-life discussions more common, the Institute of Medicine published recommendations that would enable medical providers to address end-of-life care preferences with patients and families. Two years later, Medicare and Medicaid billing codes designated to reimburse medical providers for engaging in end-oflife discussions were approved (Sullivan et al., 2017). With these additional methods and incentives, discussions about death and end-of-life are still difficult to have. For many patients, it was a possibility that "death anxiety" would also trigger defense mechanisms in order to deny, avoid, and essentially minimize the anxiety produced by the threat of mortality. (Walczak et al., 2014). By addressing these worries, fears, and questions, patients then are able to put trust and confidence in the capabilities of the doctor, leading to healthier outcomes. Thoughtful care from the doctor enables patients to participate in healthier and more active self-care that ensures the care is consistent with patient's values. Gawande (2016) acknowledged:

These patients have fears and worries about what is to come; they have goals and priorities for how they wish to live their lives; they have aspects of their lives they are willing to sacrifice, and aspects they are not willing to sacrifice, for the sake of more time; they have certain functions they consider essential for life to be

understand and support these concerns as a central part of their care. (p. 2) Promoting closer, empathetic relations between the doctor and patient can allow for more comfortable and understanding end-of-life discussions. By encompassing more openended communication, this type of communication can aid in providing detailed information to the patient, by which doctors can listen and discuss the patient's concerns. Branch (2014) notes that actual active and mindful listening plays a significant role in the value of the doctor-patient relationship. This type of listening means hearing every word spoken, noting the emotion behind what is said, hearing the tone of voice, observing facial expressions, dress, posture, reactions, and being able to follow the patient's story while knowing the underlying theme (p. 69). Listening is an essential part of communication. Without listening, doctors become unaware of any thoughts, concerns, or questions the patient may have. Paying attention to the needs of the patients can assist doctors in helping the patient and their families to accurately understand the situation. As well as to encourage patients to define their goals and expectations for medical care and become more involved with end-of-life medical decisions. In the end, better communication and development of the doctor-patient relationship offers more opportunity for patients and their families to achieve greater diagnosis/prognosis understanding, medical literacy, and personal perception of care. Which in turn reduces the chance of choosing potentially futile care and increases the likelihood for earlier use of palliative services and hospice care.

worth preserving; and they want and need their caregivers and families to

Palliative and Hospice Care

In recent years, palliative services and hospice care in the United States have grown in popularity. Among high income countries, data and research show an increasing majority volume of deaths in institutional settings such as hospitals and nursing homes which has consequently led to fewer home deaths (Kasleth & Halvorsen, 2020). Due to poor experiences of dying in an institutional setting, this would drive the idea that people would rather die at home as compared to a hospital or nursing home. Waller et al., (2017) stated, "Between one-third and two thirds of people in developed world countries will die in hospital, and approximately 20% of people will die in an intensive care unit" (p. 1). With patients experiencing poor care, rising medical costs, and ultimately their deaths in these institutional settings, there has been a need to create a system with available resources to effectively reduce these numbers. In the United States, two of these systems, palliative and hospice care are designed to better enable patients and families with the ability to choose personal preferences about comfort, pain, end-of-life care, and place of death.

As a result, both palliative and hospice care have brought patients out of hospitals and nursing homes, providing them the life and death experience they need and want. Though palliative and hospice care provide greater patient comfort, these systems are different in regard to the focus of care, individual eligibility, actual services provided, and the method of payment for services. A key difference is mainly timing. Typically, palliative care can begin at diagnosis and at the same time as treatment. Hospice care, however, begins after treatment of the disease is stopped and when it is clear that the person is not going to survive the illness. Guseva (2019) states, "More than 66% of American Hospitals with 50 or more beds now have formal palliative treatment

programs, ranging from 90% of larger hospitals to 56% of smaller ones" (p. 472). Besides palliative hospital programs, palliative care can also be found at home or other non-institutional settings. Evidence shows that care given in these settings is often performed by family or paid caregivers. Gardiner et al., (2019) explained that, "It is estimated that family caregivers provide 75% to 90% of home-based care for people who are near the end-of-life" (p. 1190). Unfortunately, "The United States is notable for its lack of national strategy or policy in palliative care" (Gardiner et al., 2019, p. 1191). Because of this, it has been difficult for family caregivers to receive the financial support needed due to the substantial end-of-life medical costs, making the use of palliative resources much more difficult to use and maintain. In comparison, hospice care has taken the brunt and burden off the families themselves by providing care through For-profit, Not-for-profit, and government organizations. With the United States program of Medicare and Medicaid incorporating a hospice benefit scheme, this has proven to be the main proponent for designing a system to help dying individuals the ability to avoid futile care and provide holistic care at the end-of-life.

To better understand the aspects of hospice, the National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (2020) defines hospice care as the following:

Considered the model for quality compassionate care for people facing a lifelimiting illness, hospice provides expert medical care, pain management, and emotional and spiritual support expressly tailored to the patient's needs and wishes. Support is provided to the patient's family as well. Hospice focuses on caring, not curing. In most cases, care is provided in the patient's home but may also be provided in freestanding hospice facilities, hospitals, and nursing homes and other long-term care facilities. Hospice services are available to patients with any terminal illness or of any age, religion, or race. (p. 2)

Hospice has indeed become a model of end-of-life care for various individuals and programs which has contributed to significant improvements in various aspects of the end-of-life. These improvements can be witnessed through:

- 1) Better communication about disease prognosis
- 2) Benefits and burdens of treatments
- 3) Costs of care
- 4) Psychological support
- 5) Tailoring of end-of life care to patient's needs, values, and preferences, and
- 6) The provision of coordinated team-based care.

In addition, hospice care has shown to decrease medical costs as well. With the rapid expansion of now, "more than 6,000 hospice programs across the United States" (Guseva, 2019, p. 471), hospice has become a high-value intervention for many because of its ability to affect end-of-life expenditures.

Last year, the National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (2020) published its *Facts and Figures on Hospice Care in America*. This article contains primary data obtained in 2018. The article gives information necessary in understanding hospice patient characteristics, hospice provider characteristics, and Medicare hospice spending. Medicare, serving as the main source of funding and reimbursement for hospice care has covered upwards of 1.55 million Americans. Of those 1.55 Medicare decedents, 50.7% received one day or more of hospice care with the average Lifetime

Length of Stay (LLOS) being 89.6 days. In total, hospice patients received 114.0 million days of care coverage and reimbursement from Medicare. More than half (55.1%) of the hospice Medicare beneficiaries were female as compared to (46.1%) who were male. Since 2014, there has been steady growth in the percentage of Medicare Advantage enrollment, beginning at 30.2% with an increase of 6.7%, resulting in a 36.9% enrollment of a Medicare Advantage plan in 2018. Across the entire United States, each state has a different proportion of Medicare decedents enrolled in hospice. Leading with the highest hospice enrollment was the state of Utah, with a high of 60.5%. The lowest percentage of enrollment was "other" at 14.3% and Alaska at 22.8%. By focusing on end-of-life care, at the time of death, hospice contributed to a big change in bringing deaths from outside the hospital to individual homes. Of the 1.55 million Medicare beneficiaries, 1.1 million died at home which represents 51.5% of total deaths (those who died while enrolled in hospice). Although the other 48.5% of deaths occurred in other facilities such as nursing homes, assisted living, and in-patient settings, there has been a significant difference when compared to deaths in the past.

In terms of the total Medicare reimbursements and costs paid out to hospice, in 2018, the total Medicare spending for hospice care was \$19.2 billion dollars. When measuring average spending per patient, in 2018 the average was \$12,200. Especially in hospice, medical spending per patient can differ due to principal diagnosis. For the years 2017 and 2018, a majority of the diagnoses were cancer, with heart disease and dementia as the next leading diagnoses. As for actual hospice spending for terminal illnesses, various studies have shown that hospice has helped or can save end-of-life medical costs. Even when comparing hospice care and spending among different countries such as the

United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, Japan, Korea, and Taiwan, Obermeyer et al. (2014, as cited in, Huang et al., 2020) found that hospice care can save \$8,697 per person in the United States for the cost of terminal medical expenses in the year before death. Hospice manages to reduce costs because not only are is hospice focused on limiting care but by not performing unnecessary treatments, healthcare costs are lower. Guseva (2019) said, "...hospices manage to seamlessly align morality with money: limiting care assures a 'good death', while also helping to reduce healthcare costs. And both help sustain the hospice economy and a largely for-profit industry in the United States" (p. 472). To increase cost savings even more, hospice can utilize a provider reimbursement policy. Chen et al., (2018) demonstrated that when patients used hospice, by expanding hospice care benefits through the use of provider payments and reimbursement policies, the cost savings can increase an estimated 7%. Despite the study performed in Taiwan, the United States might receive benefit if it were to take the principles from the study and apply it, making hospice more available. Right now, a lot of hospice services can be found in more populated areas in the country. Surprisingly, "In the United States, hospice services are unavailable in 24% of the rural communities versus only 1.3% of the urban communities" (Wang et al., 2016, p. 354). There is no doubt that these individuals, families, and communities deserve hospice services just as much as those who already have access. In the long term, by providing hospice services to greater portions of the country, medical costs should decrease. Ultimately, to save on end-of-life medical costs, patients should be referred to hospice care earlier to achieve greater quality of end-of-life care and a dignified and comfortable death. In the words of Gawande (2017), "The question therefore is not how we can afford this system's expense. It is how we can build

a healthcare system that will actually help people achieve what's most important to them at the end of their lives" (p. 155). This is the hope for the future.

Hope for the Future

I believe, that as human beings, we fundamentally deserve to die in an honorable, peaceful, and loving way. Family, friends, and ultimately ourselves, will all have to come to terms with death, its reality, and its experience. In the United States, studies have shown that medical care expenditures at the end-of-life are an excellent target for cost containment and change, but this on its own will not be enough. That's why, Gawande (2017) asks the noteworthy question, "How can we build a healthcare system that actually works and achieves the goals for those at the end-of-life?" (p. 155). To accomplish this essential goal, I believe three things must be done: (1) Change culture of death denial, (2) Reduce costs effectively, and (3) Improve the end-of-life experience. By changing the culture of death denial in the United States, the end-of-life experience would improve for patients and their families, and as a result, cut down on unnecessary costs which will help allocate those savings to where it is needed.

Change the Culture

The first and most important thing that can be done is to change society's perception of death. It is beneficial to acknowledge that such an immense change may seem like an impossible feat but if such a change can happen, death may not be a source of fear or denial. The work will be hard but when looking at how the perception of old age and death has changed over time, change is definitely possible.

In the past, death was viewed as the final step to the natural course of life. Life and death were intertwined; two parts to a whole. In a sense, death was stoic, without

need of intervention, fear, and denial. This has drastically changed, to where now in the United States, the subject of death is often avoided or not thought about. Nor are discussions being had, which are necessary preparations for the final phase of human life. The use of modern medicine has tremendously blessed human life but has also negatively impacted society's approach to death, making death full of interventions and commonly experienced after a long course of struggle and pain. The problem has become a matter of going through the process of how to die and when.

Gerard (2017) has mentioned that we must begin to have open conversations about death in order to sincerely improve end-of-life care in the United States. "Overall, end-of-life care is an ongoing, dynamic process involving the interplay of clinicians, patients, and families, and is moderated by religion, culture, and personal preferences (among other factors)" (p. 28). This effort is not limited to patients and medical providers but applies to individuals, families, and communities. These conversations and improvements have the opportunity to positively control the way that death and end-of-life care is addressed, which can effectively change the way the culture of death denial affects our healthcare.

In addition to these conversations, healthcare administrators can work together to prioritize advanced care planning and end-of-life care. One consideration might be through implementing better training among doctors and other medical providers.

Emphasizing better training on advanced care planning and end-of-life discussion, will allow healthcare providers to better serve as a conduit for conversation regarding death.

This is especially important because priorities for the sick and elderly have been often misunderstood and misdirected. Families and medical providers must recognize that there

are desires and values besides just wanting to live longer and in a safe manner. Examples of these desires are wanting to live at home with loved ones and having more control over everyday lives. As Gawande (2017) said, "We want these choices. But that doesn't mean we are eager to make the choices ourselves. Instead, most often, we make no choice at all. We fall back on the default, and the default is: Do Something. Fix Something" (p. 174). To prevent falling back on the default, we can acknowledge and accept the different priorities patients may have. Doing this will provide greater control to the patient, allowing the patients to dictate how they live through engaging in whatever brings them joy and meaning. With patients having the agency to live their life in whatsoever manner they choose, the result will create a drastic change in the ways patients receive their endof-life care. We must also search and discover a way to strike a balance between our fear of dying and our hope for a long, healthy life. To do this, we can begin involving society in conversations by asking questions like, "What is your attitude toward old age?", "Is it something to avoid thinking about, or a stage of life to be honored?" and "Do you think most people are in denial about their own aging?". Promoting greater discussions about death will help society contribute to a greater end-of-life for all.

Save Money and Reallocate

Data and research have shown that a significant percentage of Medicare spending goes to the patients in the last stages of life. Thus, medical waste at end-of-life has drawn attention over the years, especially when trying to cut expenditures and create greater savings. Modern medicine has allowed us to go farther than we ever have before and we have been fortunate to witness those capabilities and powers of modern medicine. In contrast, we have seen the damage of what too much medicine can do and when medicine

falls short of its desired expectations. Although lives have been tremendously blessed in terms of ensuring health and survival, society still favors attempts to "fix" health problems, no matter the odds of their success. Which perhaps may be a reason why it has been so difficult for patients, their families, and doctors to curtail unnecessary treatment.

To curtail unnecessary treatment, one method would be to approach this in a "Lean" fashion. Typically, the more money thrown at the problem, the quality of the solution is diminished. Higher spending equals worse outcomes. Which is exactly what has been observed for those in institutional care settings. "Lean" as an operating model is just the opposite. Rather, attempts should be made to lower the amount of spending and focus on the quality of the outcome by eliminating waste and using as few resources as possible. This effort of controlling costs and outcomes would help patients tremendously improve their death experience. Money wouldn't be wasted trying to expect better results and society can better understand on when to stop intervening on people who can't be helped or cured. In the end, a reduction in medical waste can aid in making more resources available to areas that need it. The main goal is not to eliminate unnecessary care altogether but rather find valuable, positive, and necessary care for all who find themselves at the end-of-life.

Improve End-of-Life Experience for All

Within the last two years, I have worked directly in the medical field as a Certified Nursing Assistant (CNA). Many of the patients I served were geriatric patients in a skilled nursing facility with either disability, chronic illness, or lack of support or resources to live independently thus requiring long-term care. As a CNA, it was my responsibility to support and help these patients do the things they couldn't do themselves

There were days that had tremendous joy and feelings of value from being able to heal and help those in need while other days had high levels of stress, physical exhaustion, and emotional drainage. Day after day, I began to witness first-hand the situation and environment our sick and elderly lived in. I would see these patients void of anything that enabled them to live a meaningful life. Quite frankly, the focus of care I performed was directed to keeping the patient's well-being preserved. Thus, in my work and efforts, I had to be intentional with everyday conversations. More importantly, outside my regular training and education, I had to learn to recognize these patients as individuals with passions, dreams, hope, love, sadness, pain, and fear.

There was a time during one of my shifts, I was asked by a co-worker to aid in changing the brief and transfer of their patient in order for the patient to be ready for their medical appointment two hours away. Walking into the room and addressing the patient by name, I introduced myself and my coworker and explained to the patient that both of us were there to change their brief, get them dressed, and help transfer into their wheelchair. I quickly began to read the patient report and I observed that the patient fell at home where broke her left femur and hip. Ever since then, she has been bed bound and declined progressively. Now, here was this patient in front of me, attached to a feeding tube, her body thin and fragile, laying on bed with a hospital gown draped across her body. I mentioned to the patient the steps that I was taking while removing her soiled brief. I quickly started to place a clean brief under her but needed to disconnect the patient from the feeding tube before doing so. Shortly after, the nurse arrived to disconnect and flush out the feeding tube. Once the patient was disconnected, both my coworker and I began to roll the patient again. No more than three seconds into the roll,

the patient began to moan and scream. We immediately stopped and asked the patient what was wrong. She confirmed that it was her hip and leg that hurt. After a brief pause, I told her we would go slower and gentler, but it was necessary to roll her to correctly place the brief and get her ready. We were able to roll her farther than before but halfway through, the patient screamed again, much more intensely this time. By now, it had been at least 30 minutes and hardly any progress had been made. Unannounced, the speech therapist arrived along with a physical therapy aid with the patient's family on video call. At this point, the room was filled with at least 4 other medical workers, myself not included. With all of us in the room, we were able to work together to help get the patient ready. Unfortunately, no matter what we did, we could not help the patient get ready without the presence of pain. Towards the end, the patient was in excruciating pain, constantly moaning, and screaming to the point of crying. I remember pausing, allowing the patient to breathe and rest. In that quiet moment, that's when I heard the patient say, "Please, just let me die. I want to die". It wasn't until this encounter that my outlook on the end-of-life completely transformed and I became aware of the reality these patients faced.

Ever since then, I have both seen and heard numerous patients whose wishes were to die because of their pain and poor quality of life. When this would happen, I had family members express different wishes, hoping to keep their relative alive and to help them get stronger and better, disregarding their loved one's wishes, thinking that they are "giving up" if they allow for their loved one to pass away. Gawande (2017) voiced that:

Our responsibility, in medicine, is to deal with human beings as they are. People die only once. They have no experience to draw on. They need doctors and nurses

who are willing to have the hard discussions, and say what they have seen, who will help people prepare for what is to come, and escape a warehoused oblivion that few really want. (p. 188)

It should be obvious, but it's not. We can see what's missing. What is missing are these first-hand accounts as to what truly goes on and the life experiences for those at the end-of-life. Whether it be from the patient themselves, family, or medical providers. My personal experience has enabled me to learn that as a society and as medical workers, we must ask and listen to the wishes of the patient, especially the wishes that go beyond mere survival. Gawande (2017) asserted that the vital questions we can begin to ask ourselves, our loved ones, and any who encounter any sickness, injury, or possibility of death, are the following:

- 1. What is your understanding of the situation and its potential outcomes?
- 2. What are your fears and what are your hopes?
- 3. What are the trade-offs you are willing to make and not willing to make?
- 4. And what is the course of action that best services this understanding? (p. 259)

Promoting these honest discussions will help ourselves and loved ones experience a death truly honorable and memorable. Putting value on reasons to be alive not just at end-of-life but actually throughout life itself, will allow society to observe the transformation in the mindset and culture of death denial. By being realistic and intentional in our care and lives, medical waste would be diminished and reduced, thus gaining the opportunity to save costs and allocate resources to other areas in the United States that need it. When the time comes to appropriately decide where the saved costs and resources are allocated to,

ideas could be greater hospice resources and availability, other medical resources, education, and any necessary area to be further decided upon.

Conclusion

In the United States, the history of old age and perception of death has taken a unique course. Changes to the family dynamic and economic resources have somehow led to an unsustainable focus and search for individual independence. Soon society began to avoid death and its existence, in order to maintain independence until the end of life. Consequently, a societal culture of death denial began to form, creating an ongoing problem for the United States. Although death is inevitable, society lacks the preparedness needed for the final phase of human and death when it comes. As aggregate choices were made to preserve life and autonomy for as long as possible, society needed a medical solution to solve the individuals who faced chronic illness and advancing age. This led to the creation of institutional existences but unfortunately this environment prevented those inside to have a meaningful life besides the goals of safety from dependency.

With countless improvements in technology, modern medicine has proven to be a valuable resource when aiming to preserve health and fix things when possible, but the capabilities of medicine only go so far. Oftentimes, these medical procedures do not provide any benefit, leading to medical waste at the end-of-life. This is because the societal default has been to fight death, but eventually death wins. Therefore, research was performed to discover to what extent medical waste occurs at the end-of-life. Research suggested that the large amounts of spending occur at the end-of-life in the United States. Hospitals, nursing homes, and other care settings are the major settings in

which end-of-life care is performed, and subsequently the settings that contained the highest medical spending. Even despite great amounts of spending, patient care was poor and the quality of life was negatively affected. To improve the quality of life, care, and humanity of patients, attention has been given to increasing the likelihood of engaging earlier in discussions meant to be had at the end-of-life. Methods to accomplish this can be through improving doctor-patient relationships and enrolling individuals in palliative and hospice care earlier when applicable. If all of this were to be implemented, society would be better able to provide patients the wishes and preferences they want and need at the end-of-life.

There is no doubt that much more effort and research still needs to be had to provide greater understanding about this subject matter. In fact, this will be an ongoing effort requiring constant discussion and collaboration. With a focus on end-of-life costs, the culture of death denial has shown that there is a very real opportunity to change this culture, reduce end-of-life costs, and improve the end-of-life experience. I know that on the surface, as a society, we want to do what's right. However, the hard part is finding how to do exactly that. If anything is to be achieved by this thesis, is to bring a general awareness and to become an advocate in making this necessary and fundamental change. By becoming more aware and educated as a society, we will more easily be able to find the discussion points, dialogue, and details necessary for true, effective change. The time is now. Addressing and effectively changing the culture of death denial can give society hope for a greater end-of-life experience; not only for ourselves, our loved ones, but ultimately for all.

References

- Arno, P. S., House, J. S., Viola, D., & Schechter, C. (2011). Social security and mortality: the role of income support policies and population health in the United States.

 Journal of public health policy, 32(2), 234–250.

 https://doi.org/10.1057/jphp.2011.2
- Branch, W. T. (2014). Treating the whole patient: Passing time-honoured skills for building doctor-patient relationships on to generations of doctors. *Medical Education*, 48(1), 67-74.
- Chen, B., Kuo, C. C., Huang, N., & Fan, V. Y. (2018). Reducing costs at the end of life through provider incentives for hospice care: A retrospective cohort study. *Palliative medicine*, 32(8), 1389–1400. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216318774899
- Chicklis, C., MaCurdy, T., Bhattacharya, J., Shafrin, J., Zaidi, S., & Rogers, D. (2015).

 Regional growth in Medicare spending, 1992-2010. *Health services research*,

 50(5), 1574–1588. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12287
- Dalal, S., & Bruera, E. (2017). End-of-life care matters: palliative cancer care results in better care and lower costs. *The oncologist*, 22(4), 361–368.

 https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2016-0277
- Dartmouth Atlas Project. (2017). Data by hospital Medicare reimbursements (end of life care) [Infographic]. Dartmouthatlas.org.

 https://www.dartmouthatlas.org/interactive-apps/data-by-hospital/medicare-reimbursements/

- Dartmouth Atlas Project. (2017). Hospital care intensity (end of life care) [Infographic].

 <u>Dartmouthatlas.org</u>. https://www.dartmouthatlas.org/interactive-apps/hospital-care-intensity/
- De Nardi, M., French, E., Jones, J. B., & McCauley, J. (2016). Medical spending of the US elderly. *Fiscal studies*, *37*(3-4), 717–747. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5890.2016.12106
- Dong, X. S., Wang, X., Ringen, K., & Sokas, R. (2017). Baby boomers in the United

 States: Factors associated with working longer and delaying retirement. *American journal of industrial medicine*, 60(4), 315–328.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.22694
- Einav, L., Finkelstein, A., Mullainathan, S., & Obermeyer, Z. (2018). Predictive modeling of U.S. health care spending in late life. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 360(6396), 1462–1465. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar5045
- Fleming, K. C., Evans, J. M., & Chutka, D. S. (2003). A cultural and economic history of old age in America. Mayo Clinic proceedings, 78(7), 914–921.

 https://doi.org/10.4065/78.7.914
- Gardiner, C., Taylor, B., Robinson, J., & Eamp; Gott, M. (2019). Comparison of financial support for family caregivers of people at the end of life across six countries: A descriptive study. *Palliative Medicine*, *33*(9), 1189-1211.

 https://doi:10.1177/0269216319861925

- Gawande, A. (2009, May 25). The cost conundrum [Editorial]. *The New Yorker*.

 Retrieved April 6, 2021, from

 https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2009/06/01/the-cost-conundrum
- Gawande, A. (2015, May 4). Overkill [Editorial]. *The New Yorker*. Retrieved April 6, 2021, from https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2015/05/11/overkill-atul-gawande
- Gawande, A. (2016). Quantity and quality of life: Duties of care in life-limiting illness. *JAMA*, 315(3), 267–269. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.19206
- Gawande, A. (2017). *Being mortal: Medicine and what matters in the end*. New York, NY: Picador, Metropolitan Books, Henry Holt & Company.
- Gerard, N. (2017). Can Millennials Talk About Death? Young Adults' Perceptions of End-Of-Life Care. *The Journal of Health Administration Education*, *34*(1), 23.
- Glogowska, M., Simmonds, R., McLachlan, S., Cramer, H., Sanders, T., Johnson, R., Kadam, U. T., Lasserson, D. S., & Purdy, S. (2016). "Sometimes we can't fix things": a qualitative study of health care professionals' perceptions of end-of-life care for patients with heart failure. *BMC palliative care*, *15*, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-016-0074-y
- Guseva, A. (2019). Morality and money in end-of-life care Roi Livne, values at the end of life: The logic of palliative care (CAMBRIDGE, MA, Harvard University PRESS, 2019). *European Journal of Sociology*, 60(3), 471-476. https://doi:10.1017/s000397561900033x

- Hirshbein L. D. (2001). Popular views of old age in America, 1900-1950. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 49(11), 1555–1560. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.4911253.x
- Huang, Y. T., Wang, Y. W., Chi, C. W., Hu, W. Y., Lin, R., Jr, Shiao, C. C., & Tang, W.
 R. (2020). Differences in medical costs for end-of-life patients receiving traditional care and those receiving hospice care: A retrospective study. *PloS one*, 15(2), e0229176. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229176
- Kalseth, J., & Halvorsen, T. (2020, May 24). Relationship of place of death with care capacity and accessibility: A multilevel population study of system effects on place of death in Norway. *BMC Health Serv Res* **20**, 454.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05283-6
- Keary, S., & Moorman, S. M. (2015). Patient-Physician end-of-life discussions in the routine care of Medicare beneficiaries. *Journal of aging and health*, 27(6), 983– 1002. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264315569458
- Lee, R. (2014). Macroeconomic consequences of population aging in the United States:

 Overview of a national academy report. *The American Economic Review*, 104(5),

 234-239. Retrieved April 6, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42920942
- Mudrazija, S., Angel, J. L., Cipin, I., & Smolic, S. (2020). Living alone in the United States and Europe: The impact of public support on the independence of older adults. *Research on aging*, 42(5-6), 150–162.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027520907332

- National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization (NHPCO). (2020, August 20).

 NHPCO facts & figures (2020 ed). Retrieved April 06, 2021, from

 http://www.nhpco.org/factsfigures
- Rosso, R. J. (2021, January 25). U.S. health care coverage and spending. Retrieved April 06, 2021, from https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IF/IF10830
- Ruggles, S. (2003). Multigenerational families in nineteenth-century America. *Continuity and Change*, 18(1), 139-165. https://doi:10.1017/s0268416003004466
- Sullivan, S. S., Li, J., Wu, Y. B., & Hewner, S. (2017). Complexity of chronic conditions' impact on end-of-life expense trajectories of Medicare decedents. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 47(11), 545–550.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0000000000000541
- Walczak, A., Butow, P. N., Clayton, J. M., Tattersall, M. H., Davidson, P. M., Young, J., & Epstein, R. M. (2014). Discussing prognosis and end-of-life care in the final year of life: A randomised controlled trial of A Nurse-led communication support programme for patients and caregivers. *BMJ Open*, 4(6), 1-11.
 https://doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005745
- Waller, A., Dodd, N., Tattersall, M. H., Nair, B., & Sanson-Fisher, R. (2017). Improving hospital-based end of life care processes and outcomes: A systematic review of research output, quality and effectiveness. *BMC Palliative Care*, *16*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12904-017-0204-1
- Wang, H., Qiu, F., Boilesen, E., Nayar, P., Lander, L., Watkins, K., & Watanabe-Galloway, S. (2016). Rural-Urban Differences in Costs of End-of-Life Care for Elderly Cancer Patients in the United States. *The Journal of rural health: official*

journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association, 32(4), 353–362. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12160

Zimmermann C. (2007). Death denial: obstacle or instrument for palliative care? An analysis of clinical literature. *Sociology of health & illness*, 29(2), 297–314. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2007.00495 Name of Candidate: Christopher Hales

Birth date: June 6, 1998

Birth place: Salt Lake City, Utah

870 E Utah Highlands Dr. Lehi, Utah, 84043 Address: